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1. Name

historic Fishburne HOme School

and or common  FISHBURNE MILITARY SCHOOL (PREFERRED) (VHLC FILE #136-4)
2. Location

street & number 225 South Wayne Avenue N/A not for publication
city, town Waynesboro N/ Avicinity of
state Virginia code 91 county (cicy) code 820
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
__ district public _X occupled ___ agriculture ___ museum
X building(s) _X private —___unoccupied ___ commercial —_park
____ structure ____ both — work In progress X__ educational ____ private residence
. site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment —religious
—__ object —_in process _X_yes: restricted —___government : scientific
—____ being considered ___. yes: unrestricted — industrial transportation
N/A — no X military ____other:

4. Owner of Property

name Fishburne-Hudgins Educational Foundation, Inc.

street & number Post Office Box 988

city, town Waynesboro N/Avicinity of state Virginia 22980

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Wavnesboro City Building-Assessor's Office

street & number 250 South Wayne Avenue

city, town Waynesboro state Virginia 22980

6. Representation in Existing Surveys
VIRGINTA HISTORIC LANDMARKS COMMISSLION
title Survey File #135-4 has this property been determined eligible? ____yes X no

date 1983 __ _tederal %X state _ _county local

g_epositary for Survey records 221 Governor Street

city, town Richmond Virginia 23219




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one “
X_excellent — deteriorated _.__ unaltered X __original site

— good —ruins X_ altered — _moved date _|___ N/A
— fair — unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance
SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Fishburne Military School is located in the center of Waynesboro, Virginia, in
the -central Shenandoah Valley. The late 19th- and early 20th-centuries commercial
core of the city borders Fishburne to the north and east, with primarily residential
developments dating largely to the early 20th century to the south and west. Two
large, imposing brick veneered buildings distinguish the Fishburne School complex--the
Barracks, constructed between 1916 and 1921, and the Administration Building, begun in
1939 and completed in 1940. T.J. Collins and Sons, a prominent Staunton architectural
firm, designed the two buildings in the Gothic style popular for military schools.
Both were constructed of local brick with Indiana limestone highlights and steel
reinforcement. The buildings stand side by side overlooking a large parade/athletic
field. A monumental concrete stairway leads down to this field from the parapet, or
drill area, in front of the Barracks. The nine-acre complex also includes tennis
courts west of the Administration Building and a driveway and parking area in front of
the two buildings. '

ARCHITECTURAL ANALYSIS

Barracks

The present Barracks Building was constructed in four stages. T.J. Collins designed
the east (front), south, and west sides of the quadrangle which were completed in
1917. This structure was built directly behind the original frame barracks (ca. 1882-
1889), which were razed upon completion of this first part of the fireproof barracks.
In 1919, the south side was extended to form the mess hall/chapel/swimming pool wing,
which was subsequently enlarged with a kitchen wing in 1921. The west side of the
Barracks, designed by T.J. Collins' sons William and Samuel, was also finished in
1921. The resulting quadrangle illustrates a form commonly found at military schools
in the Valley, including Virginia Military Institute and Augusta Military Academy.

The three-story Barracks, which serves primarily as the cadets' residence, has
its main entrance on the east side facing the parade field. A projecting central
pavilion crowned with a battlement roof provides the fog¢al point of this facade. The
asymmetrically designed pavilion features a five-story flag tower to the south and a
four-story north tower. The compound lancet—arched portal in the center of the
pavilion serves as an open entrance into the quadrangle. A group of lancet-arched
windows over the central arch, the square window hoods over the third-floor windows,
and the wall buttresses around the central pavilion suggest the Gothic style. Longi-
tudinal five-bay blocks, pierced by 6/6 sash windows with stone sills and brick window
panels below, flank the central pavilion. Flat-topped towers with narrow, rectangular
lunettes compose the sixth bay on each corner of these side blocks.

The north and south sides of the Barracks Building continue to reflect the Gothic
style both in features and in the vertical emphasis of elements. On the south side,
projecting portals with lancet arches frame the two basement-level entrances. Flanking
crenelated towers, square window hoods, and tall sets of multi-paned windows distinguish
the southeast entrance. The middle south entrance, flanked by low wall buttresses,
projects from a four-story crenelated tower. A tall hexagonal chimney, crenelated
tower, groupings of windows, and a slender tower with low pyramidal roof add verticality

(See Continuation Sheet #1



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

——- prehistoric .. . archeology-prehistoric . _ community planning ... _ landscape architecture religion

-~ 1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic - ... conservation e law science

——_1500-1599 ____ agriculture -.-—. economics ... literature -..—. Sculpture

— 1600-1699 - _X architecture - X_education X__ military Z_.._ social/

e 1700-1799° __ _art .—. . engineering - Mmusic a3 humanitarian

-~ 1800-1899 ..___commerce = ___ exploration/settiement ____ philosophy —. theater

—X_ 1900- —-—. communications e INdustry - politics.government  __ transportation
... invention ‘ . . other (specity)

Seecific dates 1916-1921; 1938-1940 BuilderiArchitect T.J. Collins and Sons

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) \
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The histories of Augusta County and its academies are closely interwoven. Between
1742 and 1884, Augusta County witnessed the establishement of eleven academies and
classical schools. Fishburne Military School is significant as the only one of these
private institutions to remain in operation. The founder of the school, James A.
Fishburne, was a student and protege of Robert E. Lee during the Confederate general's
service as President of Washington College. It was Lee who inspired Fishburne to
become an educator and who instilled in him his basic ideas and principles of secondary
education. In the tradition of A.J. Davis' Virginia Military Institute, Staunton
architect T.J. Collins designed the Barracks of Fishburne Home School in the Gothic
style, then popularly used for other Virginia military schools and academies. His
sons William and Samuel Collins continued the tradition with their designs of several
wings to the Barracks and the Administration Building. The school complex constitutes
a major architectural landmark for the city of Waynesboro.

/
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

James A. Fishburne was born in Waynesboro, Virginia, on April 10, 1850. of
German descent, his family emigrated to Pennsylvania in 1749. His grandfather brought
the family to Staunton in 1784. Daniel Fishburne, James' father, moved to Waynesboro
in 1819 as a young man. At that time, Waynesboro was a small settlement on the stage
road from Staunton to Charlottesville. As the town grew, Daniel prospered as the
owner of a flourishing general store. James was the eleventh of fourteen children.
The Civil War interrupted James' happy childhood years and brought tragedy to his
family. He was an independent and resourceful young man, however, and by the age of
sixteen had made enough money to enter Washington College (now Washington and Lee
University). The fours years he spent there (1866-1870), under General Robert E. Lee,
were to have a profound influence on his life. With James' desire to become a teacher
and to open his own school; as well as General Lee's encouragement, James was soon to
see his dream materialize. The General's love of duty, honor, and his fellow man is
clearly seen in the principles on which the Fishburne Military School was founded.

The Proprietorship, 1879-1916

James Fishburne soon embarked on a teaching career that would take to Oxford,
North Carolina, and New Roe, Kentucky. By 1878 he had enough money to start a school
and returned to Waynesboro with his bride to realize his dream. With the help of his
sister, Fishburne opened a day school called The Waynesboro High School. The first
class of thirteen boys and girls, was held in 1879 in the upstairs of the old Taylor
Building on Main Street. The following year, he expanded into the abandoned Waynesboro
Academy Building, hired his first instructor, and made bids for out of town students.

(See Continuation Sheet #3)



9. Major Bibliographica! References sc. continuation sheet #6)

Augusta County Deed Books 95, 97.

Booker, A. Brooks. Hlstory of the Academies of Augusta County, Virginia."” Masters Thesis
University of Virginia, 1949. ’

Catlett, Clay, and Fishburne, Elliott G. An Economic and Social Survey of Augusta County
(Unlver31ty of Virginia Record Extension Series, _ed. bv Wilson Gee), Tlniversity of

ir 192
10.*Géographical Data

Acreage of nominated property _approx. 9 acres
Quadrangle name __Waynesboro West, VA Quadrangle scale 1:24000
UTM References

Ahidlbladaad lazys|yso Lo L b b by o

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

cd L e b Lo b bl ol Ly J|||||1]
El I T T I T T Flod Ll Ly IJ L 1| L1
3 I I e T T ' AT Hl ) Ly | Ll L Lo

Verbal boundary description and justification The nominated property consists of an irregular
rectangular lot of 9.013 acres. The lot is bounded by Federal St. to the N, S.
Wayne Ave. to the E, Eleventh St. to the S, and the W boundary is formed by an

. (See Contlnuatlon Sheet #7)

List all states and counties for properties overlapplng state or county boundarles
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tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
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title ’
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7. DESCRIPTION -- Architectural Analysis

to the south facade. The north side is less elaborately embellished. An arcade of
lancet arches encase large, multi-paned casement type windows on the first floor,
while very tall multi-paned casement windows line the second floor. Four-story towers
compose the corners, and wall buttresses divide the bays. The west side retains the
simplest design, with eleven bays of 6/6 sash finished with stone sills and brick
window panels below each window.

The brickwork om three exterior sides of the Barracks Building is Flemish bond
veneer, except for the west wall, which is laid in American bond. Stone highlights
embellish all facades, and a stone string course encircles the building above top-story
windows and below the first-story windows when applicable. All the foundations are
concrete.

The three-story east, south, and west sides of the quadrangle house cadet rooms.
A three-story wooden porch, finished with square chamfered posts and a Gothic railing,
lines the interior walls of these three sides. Doors to the cadet rooms enter from
the quadrangle on all three floors. The different treatment of the north side suggests
its more public use. The second floor projects out over the covered walkway, enclosed
by a lancet-arched brick arcade, articulated by projecting, two-story buttresses. The
two—-story north side, distinguished on the outside and inside wall from the other
sides, contains classrooms on the first floor and the library/study hall on the second
floor. When the library was moved here from the Administration Building in 1960-61,
the large, elaborately decorated study hall was then divided into two rooms. Interior
embellishments such as the exposed roof truss were left intact.

The quadrangle encircles a six-part, symmetrically divided courtyard with brick
paths. A small, square guardhouse, built in 1920, stood in the center of the courtyard
until 1968 when it was removed. In 1980, the courtyard was landscaped. Lancet arches
abound throughout the passageways in the courtyard. Interior staircases are located
in each corner tower of the building. :

The first addition, a long three-story block, contains the swimming pool in the
raised basement, mess hall on the main floor, and chapel on the second floor.
Projecting wall buttresses divide this wing into six bays, with large paired main-floor
and triple second-floor windows with limestone trim. Elliptical arched windows line
the basement level on the south side. A projecting crenelated tower, with narrow
rectangular lunettes, composes the seventh, or west bay of this addition, The south
side, facing Eleventh Street, has been cloaked in a Flemish bond veneer, with American
bond on the less visible north side. Unlike the main barracks, this block has been
topped with a gable roof. Inside, both the mess hall and chapel retain their exposed
ceiling joists. - '

The smaller, two-story kitchen wing, added off the west end of the mess hall,
also hints at the Gothic style. The irregular form and unbalanced facade of this
addition suggests a more utilitarian function. Like the mess hall wing, the kitchen
block displays a Flemish bond veneer facing Eleventh Street, with American bond on the
north wall and a low-pitched gable roof.

(See Continuation Sheet #2)
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7 DESCRIPTION -- Architectural Analysis

" The quadrangle form of the Barracks and the consistent use of Gothic elements in
the original block and two wings present a structure reminiscent of a medieval fortress.

The Administration Building

The Administration Building, also known as the Memorial Building, was built north
of the Barracks, with a covered walkway connecting the two buildings. Samuel Collins
designed this two-story building as well as the gymnasium wing. Construction occurred
between 1939-40. The Administration Building encases the now obscured 1882 Fishburne
home in the southeast corner of the tripartite facade. The interior of the two-story
house was completely remodeled into office space with this construction. Only a few
traces of original trim survive inside. The basement, which had housed the cadets'
dining room and store, still contains the cadet store today.

The Administration Building boasts more elaborate decoration than the Barracks.
The front recessed central pavilion with gabled roof provides the focus of much of
this decoration. Projecting brick and stone wall buttresses divide the pavilion into
five bays. Fenestration varies from large, lancet-arched multi-paned windows on the
first floor to large, square multi-paned windows on the second floor. Smaller square
casement windows with trefoil deéigns pierce the central three bays of the gabled
third-story level. The projecting lancet—arched portal, flanked by wall buttresses,
shelters the main entrance. A carved eagle rests above the portal, suggesting the
military ties of the school. '

Deeper two—story, two-bay blocks flank the central pavilion of the building. The
large, multi-paned casement windows have been trimmed in limestone, with two-colored
tile panels added between the first and second-floor windows in 1979-80. Corner
quoins finish the basement-level windows, which follow the same bays as the main-level
facade. The side windows follow the same designs, but without the iron balconies
found on the first-floor facade windows. The long, two-story gymnasium wing directly
behind the Administration Building is slightly wider than the central pavilion. Wall
buttresses divide the side walls into bays, infilled completely with-large, square
multi-paned windows. o

Certain features unify the various components of the Administration Building.
All the walls are covered with Flemish bond veneer and the gym and front side blocks
have been topped with a flat roof. A stone string course encircles the entire
building above the second-floor windows, as at the Barracks. Here, however, Fishburne
Military School's shield emblems decorate the cornice at regular intervals in the
front Administration block, and lancet-arched stone designs continue along the gymnasium
cornice. A stone belt course also extends between the basement and main-floor levels
of the front Administration section, but it is not found along the gymnasium wing
because the basement level is not exposed.

By 1976, ivy had nearly covered both the Barracks and Administration Building
In 1979-80, both buildings were sandblasted and the bricks treated with silicone
There is no noticeable damage at the present time.

(See Continuation Sheet #3)
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DESCRIPTION ——- Architectural Analysis

A flagstone staircase leads up to the formal front entrance with two sets of
double doors. The exterior doors were replaced in 1979, and the interior doors were
completely removed. A stained-glass transom commemorating Fishburne's centennial re-
placed a plain-glass transom that same year. The large entrance foyer is the most
elaborately decorated room in the Administration Building. The heavy exposed beams,
wooden plank floor, plaster walls and ceiling, and a ca. 1830 Federal mantel, all
dating to the 1939-40 construction, still remain. Other rooms in the building include
general administrative offices, classrooms, and the infirmary. Much of the interior
has been modernized since the 1960s. In 1964-65, the walls of the main stairwell
located in the south block were paneled, and other rooms have been paneled since 1977.

Ceilings were lowered in several rooms in 1977 for maintenance and energy conservation
reasons.

The original large, wooden doors still open from the front entrance foyer into
the main-level gymnasium, which still retains much of its 1940 character. The basement
level contains the rifle range and team locker rooms. This gymnasium replaces a
ca. 1919 frame gym, which burned in 1939. Tennis courts are located behind the gym.

AMcC

~

8. SIGNIFICANCE -- Historical Background

Beginning with the third session, the school admitted only boys. By this year, a
challenging curriculum had been established: three foreign languages, eight courses
in science and mathematics, English, history, geography, and nine other courses.

It was also in 1880 that Professor Fishburne began the‘construction of his home,
located on the hill where Fishburne Military School now stands. He bought 1% acres
from Elizabeth Evans, wife of Joshua Evans}' A year later, Professor Fishburne added
approximately two more acres to his property.“ Professor Fishburne's home was completed
in 1882, and the school moved to its present site. His two-story house with full
basement accommodated boarding students. Instructors and students roomed, ate, and
studied here. Local histories indicate that this was the first house in the county
with running water and a bath served by water pumped from a Wayne Avenue spring. The
name of the school became Fishburne Home School, and this same year, construction of
the wooden Barracks began.

During the next few years, the school took on much of its military character,

though military uniforms were not yet required. The wooden Barracks Yere to be
enlarged three times before they were razed in 1917, upon the completion of the
fireproof Barracks.  Although very simple in design, the original Barracks Building

was decorated with ornamentation suggestive of the Gothic style.

In 1883, a military school graduate was hired as drill master, and he instructed
a program of close order drill. The next year, Captain I.H. Saunders, a graduate of
Virginia Military Institute, became commandant and the assistant to Professor.Fls§burne
Military uniforms were then required, students became cadets, and the institution

became Fishburne Military School. The military approach to education provided a
(See Continuation Sheet #4)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE —-- Historical Background

disciplined and conducive enviromment for learning. Cadets learned their rights and
privileges, as well as their duties and responsibilities. Professor Fishburne's aims
for the school were to prepare his students physically and mentall&, while equipping
them “"for college, university, or practical life."

Fishburne Military School became one of the first two schools in Virginia to be
accredited by the stringent Southern Association of Secondary Schools. This honor was
bestowed in 1897. Even today, Fishburne boasts an unbroken record of membership in
this important and select educational association, making it a unique example in
Virginia.

In 1901, Morgan H. Hudgins, a graduate of Virginia Military Institute, joined
Fishburne Military School as the Commandant of Cadets and Associate Principal to
Professor Fishburne. Morgan Hudgins' tenure with the school was to last fifty-one
years., A strong and able man, he led the school through periods of growth and
substantial development in its military training.

The Corporation, 1916-1951

It was apparent to Professor /Fishburne that a modern, fireproof facility would be
required if the school were to continue its place in the forefront of secondary
education. He invited outstanding and successful businessmen of the community to
invest in a private stock corporation that would acquire the school and fund the
necessary improvements. The school was incorporated in 1916. The Staunton architect
T.J. Collins was hired and construction of the new Barracks began soon. The mess
hall/chapel/swimming pool wing and the kitchen were added in 1919 and 1921, respectively.
A wooden frame gymnasium was also built behind the Barracks in 1919. The old frame
Barracks were torn down in 1917 forming a spacious parapet,(drill area) in front of
the new Barracks. The large field that occupies the eastern portion of the Fishburne
property was graded and leveled for use as a parade/athletic field.

Also in 1919, an Infantry Unit of the Reserve Officers Training Corps was granted
to the school by the War Department. This allowed for an active duty Army officer to
be stationed at the school for three-year tours of duty during which he, along with
other Army personnel, conducted classes in military training. This Infantry Unit
system would last until the mid-1970s. The War Department, renamed the Department of
Defense in the late 1940s, continues to have jurisdiction over the ROTC program at
Fishburne.

In 1921, the west wing of the Barracks was completed. On Armistice Day of the
same year, James Fishburne died peacefully at his home. _A remarkable and dedicated
man, his last conscious words were a prayer for "my boys.”

Colonel Hudgins succeeded Professor Fishburne as principal. For the next thirty-one
years, under Hudgins' leadership, Fishburne Military School was to achieve great success
in academic, military, as well as extracurricular activities. In 1924, the Fishburne

(See Continuation Sheet #5)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE Historical Background

Cadet Corps was first rated an honor military school under the Reserve Officers
Training Corps (ROTC) program of the U.S. Army. Fishburne has never failed to achieve
this honor and is distinguished as the only Junior ROTC school in the country with
such a record. ' :

In 1939, fire destroyed the frame gymnasium, and the school launched an effort to
build the Administration Building, incorporating the Fishburne home. The school again
called upon the T.J. Collins firm to design the structure. The building was completed
in 1940, and dedicated by Judge C.G. Quesenbery at commencement exercises that May.
This new building included the administrative unit, the memorial foyer, and the library.
The gymnasium in the rear was fully equipped with a rifle range and team dressing
room. :

The Foundation, 1951—Preseq§

By the late 1940s, it was apparent that the school's future lay in growth and
development as a nonprofit educational foundation. The year 1951 proved to be critical
for Fishburne. Mounting losses and the unwillingness of investment of the necessary
private capital forced the stockholders to offer the school for sale. The local
government purchased the school with the intentions of transforming it into the Waynes-
boro City Building. Local civic leaders, viewing Fishburne Military School as an
integral part of Waynesboro's heritage and a valuable community asset, along with a
small group of friends and alumni formed an organization that was able to purchase the
school from the city a few months later, thus allowing Fishburne to continue its
uninterrupted record of educational service. This nonprofit organization, called the
Fishburne-Hudgins Educational Foundation, was chartered to operate school in perpetuity.

The 185 cadets of Fishburne represent a group of young men from the seventh grade

to the post-graduate year. While most of these men come from Virginia and its
bordering states, students hail from many other states, as well as. eleven foreign
countries. Many Fishburne cadets have honored their school and country with their

services in the U.S. Armed Forces, and several with their lives.

Although Fishburne Military School has changed with the times, its mission remains
committed to Professor Fishburne's desire to make Fishburne cadets "well equipped for
the duties and responsibilities of 1life, and above a}l else, to maintain a high
standard of honor and integrity in the Corps of Cadets.”

MEB/RCC

1Augusta County Deed Book 95, p. 512.

2A.ugusta County Deed Book 97, p. 276. Subsequent land purchases made by Professor
Fishburne for the school may be found in Augusta County Deed Books.

(See Continuation Sheet #6)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE -- Footnotes

3., L1
Fishburne Military School, Centennial Taps 1879-1979, 1979, p. 29.

4"The Schools,” ‘Valley Virginian, June 9, 1887, 10, n.p.

5Centennial Taps, p. 31.

6 " X "
J.B. Yount, "James Abbott Fishburne,” Augusta Historical Bulletin, Vol. 8, No.

Spring 1972, p. 10.

7Ibid.
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10. GEOGRAPHICAL DATA -- Verbal Boundary Description & Boundary Justification

alley located behind the houses which face Maple Ave. From the Waynesboro
Assessor's records, the property is found on Map #29, Block #1, and is described
as a small acreage including lots #11-15, but not including lot #17 located in
the southeastern cormer of the block. The total area of the buildings themselves
is 74,704 square feet. -

Boundary Justification: The nominated property consists of  approximately nine
acres. This includes the school's buildings and the adjacent parade/athletic
fields. The nominated acreage constitutes property purchased by James A. Fishburne
for his school beginning in 1881. With the exception of the Gymnasium and Admin-
istration Building, all the school's buildings are over fifty years old. However,
in spite of the fact that the more recent buildings were constructed in 1939-40,
they are compatible in style and scale with the older structures. '
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Wwaynesboro West, Va. 1973(PR 1978)
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